Supplementary Materials

Title: Assessing the causal role of sleep traits on glycated haemoglobin: a Mendelian randomization study

Author list:

Junxi Liu, PhD*Ω^{1, 2}, Rebecca C Richmond, PhD*^{1, 2}, Jack Bowden, PhD^{3, 1}, Ciarrah Barry, BSc^{1, 2}, Hassan S Dashti, PhD^{4, 5, 6}, Iyas Daghlas, MD candidate^{4, 5, 6}, Jacqueline M Lane, PhD^{4, 5, 6} ⁶, Samuel E Jones, PhD⁷, Andrew R Wood, PhD⁸, Timothy M Frayling, PhD⁸, Alison K Wright, PhD⁹, Matthew J Carr, PhD^{10, 11, 12}, Simon G Anderson, PhD^{13, 14}, Richard A Emsley, PhD¹⁵, David W Ray, PhD^{16, 17}, Michael N Weedon, PhD⁸, Richa Saxena, PhD^{4, 5, 6, 18}, Deborah A Lawlor, PhD^{1, 2, 19}, Martin K Rutter, MD^{†9, 20}

* = Joint first authors, with equal contributions; † = Joint senior authors, with equal contributions; Ω Corresponding author

Affiliations:

1. MRC Integrative Epidemiology Unit at the University of Bristol, Bristol, UK

2. Population Health Sciences, Bristol Medical School, University of Bristol, Bristol, UK

3. College of Medicine and Health, the University of Exeter, Exeter, UK

 Centre for Genomic Medicine, Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

5. Broad Institute of MIT and Harvard, Cambridge, MA, USA

 Department of Anaesthesia, Critical Care and Pain Medicine, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, USA

7. Institute for Molecular Medicine Finland, University of Helsinki, Uusimaa, Finland

8. Genetics of Complex Traits, University of Exeter Medical School, Exeter, UK

Division of Diabetes, Endocrinology and Gastroenterology, School of Medical Sciences,
Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK

 Division of Pharmacy and Optometry, School of Health Sciences, Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK

11. Manchester Academic Health Science Centre, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK

12. National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Greater Manchester Patient Safety Translational Research Centre, University of Manchester, UK

George Alleyne Chronic Disease Research Centre, Caribbean Institute of Health Research,
University of the West Indies, Kingston, Jamaica

14. Division of Cardiovascular Sciences, School of Medical Sciences, Faculty of Biology,Medicine and Health, University of Manchester, UK

15. Department of Biostatistics and Health Informatics, King's College London, London, UK

16. National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Oxford Biomedical Research Centre, John Radcliffe Hospital, Oxford UK

17. Oxford Centre for Diabetes, Endocrinology and Metabolism, University of Oxford, Oxford UK

 Division of Sleep and Circadian Disorders, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

19. National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Bristol Biomedical Research Centre,University Hospitals Bristol NHS Foundation Trust and the University of Bristol, Bristol, UK

20. Diabetes, Endocrinology and Metabolism Centre, Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust, Manchester Academic Health Science Centre, Manchester, Manchester, UK

 Ω Corresponding author:

Dr. Junxi Liu

MRC Integrative Epidemiology Unit, Bristol Medical School, University of Bristol

Oakfield House, Oakfield Grove, Clifton, Bristol, BS8 2BN

Email: <u>ieu_james.liu@bristol.ac.uk</u>

Table of Contents

Title: Assessing the causal role of sleep traits on glycated haemoglobin: a Mendelian	
randomization study	1
UK Biobank	6
The UK Biobank participants	6
Details of self-reported sleep traits – exposures	7
Multivariable-adjusted regression model	8
One-sample Mendelian randomization1	0
Two-sample Mendelian randomization1	1
Sensitivity analyses 1	2
Collider-correction1	2
Winner's curse correction1	5
Additional analyses1	6
Assessing associations of HbA1c with insomnia1	6
Multivariable Mendelian randomization assessing the direct effect of insomnia symptoms of	n
<i>HbA1c independent of BMI</i> 1	7
Assessing associations of sleep traits with glucose1	8
Testing Mendelian randomization assumptions1	9
Quantifying the population-level impact of a hypothetical insomnia intervention on the	
prevalence of diabetes in the UK 2	1
References	3

UK Biobank

The UK Biobank participants

Between 2006 and 2010, UK Biobank (UKB) recruited 503,317 participants aged 40-69 years, from 9.2 million adults who were invited to take part (5.5% response rate).(1; 2) All participants provided informed consent. Baseline data on self-reported sleep traits and other lifestyle and socio-demographic characteristics were obtained using a touchscreen questionnaire. At the same time, anthropometric measures and non-fasting venous blood samples were taken. These samples were used for glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c), non-fasting glucose, and chip-based genome-wide analyses; the latter providing single-nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) data. HbA1c (mmol/mol) was measured in red blood cells by HPLC on a Bio-Rad VARIANT II Turbo analyzer and nonfasting glucose (mmol/l) was assayed in serum by hexokinase analysis on a Beckman Coulter AU5800.(3)

UKB included 488,377 successfully genotyped participants: 49,979 using the UK BiLEVE chip and 438,398 using the UKB axiom chip. Pre-imputation quality control, phasing and imputation of the UKB genetic data have been described.(4) Of the 488,377 successfully genotyped participants, 488,288 were with available phenotypic data, among which, 409,629 were selfreported as "White British". Of these 409,629, 72,617 were excluded, after accounting for duplication, based on sex mismatch (n=312), sex chromosome aneuploidy (n=556), outliers in heterozygosity and missing rates (n=731), and relatedness based on estimated kinship coefficients (n=71,274).(5) Additionally, 13 participants who had withdrawn consent prior to our analyses were removed (by 04 February 2020). Thus, 336,999 participants were included in the final analysis (**Supplementary Figure 1**).

Details of self-reported sleep traits – exposures

To assess the frequency of insomnia symptoms, participants were asked: "Do you have trouble falling asleep at night or do you wake up in the middle of the night?" with responses "Never/rarely", "Sometimes", "Usually", "Prefer not to answer", and "Do not know". Those who responded "Prefer not to answer" or "Do not know" were set into missing. We derived a binary variable for the frequency of insomnia symptoms where "Usually" was coded as 1 and "Never/rarely" or "Sometimes" were coded as 0.

24-hour sleep duration was assessed by asking: "How many hours sleep do you get in every 24 hours? (Please include naps)". The answer could only contain integer values. Binary variables for short sleep duration (≤ 6 hours *vs* 7-8 hours) and long sleep duration (≥ 9 hours *vs* 7-8 hours) were also derived.

Self-reported daytime sleepiness was ascertained using the question "How likely are you to dose off or fall asleep during the daytime when you don't mean to? (e.g., when working, reading or driving)" with the response options of "Never/rarely", "Sometimes", "Usually", "All of the time", "Prefer not to answer", and "Do not know". Participants reporting "Prefer not to answer" or "Do not know" were set into missing. Other responses were coded as 1 to 4 corresponding to the severity of daytime sleepiness. To assess daytime napping, participants were asked: "Do you have a nap during the day?" with responses "Never/rarely", "Sometimes", "Usually", "Prefer not to answer", and "Do not know". Those who responded "Prefer not to answer" or "Do not know" were set into missing. We derived a three-levels ordinal variable for napping frequency where "Never/rarely," "Sometimes," and "Usually" were coded as 1, 2, and 3, respectively.

Chronotype was assessed in the question "Do you consider yourself to be?" with the following answers: "Definitely a 'morning' person", "More a 'morning' than an 'evening' person", "Do not know", "More an 'evening' than a 'morning' person", "Definitely an 'evening person", and "Prefer not to answer" which were coded from 1 to 5 and missing respectively.

Multivariable-adjusted regression model

We considered the following potential confounders in multivariable-adjusted regression (MVR) model: baseline age, sex, smoking, alcohol intake, Townsend residential area deprivation score, education vigorous physical activity levels, diagnosed sleep apnoea, and body mass index (BMI). The covariates were determined to be potential confounders based on being known or plausible cause of both variation in sleep characteristics and glycaemic levels.(6-18) Data on the confounders in the multivariable-adjusted regression (MVR) were taken from baseline questionnaire responses with the exceptions of sleep apnoea, BMI and deprivation scores. Of the lifestyle and environment questions, participants were asked their smoking status (categorised into 'never', 'former' or 'current') and their alcohol intake frequency (categorised into 'never', 'occasionally', '1-3 times a month' 'once or twice a week', '3-4 times a week' or 'daily').

Participants were also asked how many days in a typical week that they would do 10 or more minutes of vigorous physical activity ("activities that make you sweat or breathe hard such as fast cycling, aerobic exercise and heavy lifting"). Participants were asked which qualifications they had. A categorial variable was generated for education in the UKB corresponding to 5 International Standard Classification of Education (ISCED) codes based on the years of education in UK Biobank (5: College or university degree / NVQ or HND or HNC or equivalent; 4: Other prof.equal. eg: nursing, teaching; 3: A levels / AS levels or equivalent; 2: O levels / GCSEs or equivalent / CSEs or equivalent; 1: None of the above). Townsend deprivation index(19) was calculated based on the preceding national census output areas, where each participant was assigned a continuous score corresponding to the output area in which their postcode was located. A higher index indicates a greater level of deprivation. At the initial Assessment Centre visit, height (cm) was measured using a Seca 202 device in all participants in the UKB along with sitting height while weight (kg) was measured by a variety of means, which was amalgamated into a single weight variable. Diagnosed sleep apnoea (ICD-10) was obtained from the Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) data (code G47.33) in the UKB. We ensured that the diagnosis occurred before the baseline UKB assessment using dates of diagnosis and UKB assessment. BMI was calculated from height and weight in kg/m², which were measured at UKB assessment centres (fieldworker assessed weight and height at baseline. Standing height (cm) was measured using a Seca 202 device following a protocol and training. Weight (kg) was measured by a variety of means during the initial Assessment Centre visit. This field amalgamates these values into a single item).

One-sample Mendelian randomization

Biallelic and autosomal SNPs identified in genome-wide association study (GWAS) of selfreported sleep traits were used in the UKB:(2) 245 SNPs for insomnia symptoms,(20) 77 SNPs for sleep duration,(21) 27 SNPs for short sleep (\leq 6hours *vs* 7-8 hours),(21) 7 SNPs for long sleep (\geq 9hours *vs* 7-8 hours),(21) 37 SNPs for excessive daytime sleepiness,(22) 114 SNPs for napping,(23) and 341 SNPs for chronotype(24) (specific SNPs can be checked in **Supplementary Table 7**). After the identification of genetic variants from the discovery GWAS, we recoded the SNPs in the UKB to ensure they were aligning with the discovery GWAS, in the direction of specific sleep traits' increasing allele. To be noticed, the chronotype increasing allele was coded for morning preference (categories were ordered from more 'eveningness' to more 'morningness') in the discovery GWAS of chronotype.(24) We have flipped the evening preference alleles for chronotype for a better interpretation (where 'definitely a morning person' is the reference category). Accordingly, the unweighted allele scores of each sleep traits were generated by summing the number of effect alleles harboured by each individual.

For one-sample Mendelian randomization (1SMR), the genetic variants were extracted from the UKB Haplotype Reference Consortium reference panel dataset. These data have undergone extensive quality control checks including removal of related participants (third degree or closer) and non-White British participants based on questionnaire and PCA.(25) Unweighted allele scores were generated as the total number of adverse sleep trait increasing alleles present for each participant (evening preference alleles for chronotype). Two-stage least squares (2SLS) instrumental variable analyses were performed with adjustment for assessment centre and 40 genetic principal components to minimize confounding by population stratification,(26) as well

10

as baseline age, sex and genotyping chip to account for known confounders and to reduce random variation.

Two-sample Mendelian randomization

We conducted two-sample Mendelian randomization (2SMR) analyses of sleep traits with glycaemic measures using the summary associations between the genetic instruments and sleep traits identified in the respective GWAS(20-23) (sample 1) (Supplementary Table 1) and estimates of the associations between the genetic instruments and glycaemic measures (HbA1c and fasting glucose)(27; 28) from Meta-Analyses of Glucose and Insulin-related traits Consortium (MAGIC) (sample 2). Analyses were conducted using the "TwoSampleMR" package in R (version MRCIEU/TwoSampleMR@0.4.26).(29) If a SNP was unavailable in the outcome GWAS summary statistics, we identified a proxy in strong linkage disequilibrium (LD) with the missing SNP ($r^2>0.8$) (proxy SNPs were shown in **Supplementary Table 9**). All SNPs used to instrument the sleep traits were found to be conditionally independent in the GWAS studies, as such we did not apply LD clumping function, which might reduce the number of SNPs. The effect allele frequency of the outcome summary data was misinterpreted in the "TwoSampleMR" package (by the time of the analyses was conducted). Therefore, we manually corrected the effect allele frequency of all the merged palindromic SNPs according to the data (i.e., minor allele frequency) downloaded from the MAGIC and the information of minor allele obtained from the Ensembl (EUR population) (https://www.ensembl.org/index.html). We then performed harmonization of the direction of effects between SNPs in the exposure and outcome GWAS. Palindromic SNPs were harmonized if they were aligned and the minor allele frequency

was <0.3, otherwise they were excluded. In the primary analysis, we used the inverse-variance weighted (IVW) regression under a multiplicative random-effects model(30) (weights are equal to the inverse of variance of SNP-outcome associations) to obtain causal effects of sleep traits on HbA1c and fasting glucose.

To enable the comparison of the 2SMR estimates to the MVR and 1SMR results, we converted the results of the SNP-binary sleep traits (i.e., insomnia symptoms, short sleep, and long sleep) from the multiplicative log odds scale to a difference in risk scale by $\beta = \log OR * \mu * (1 - \mu)$, $se = se_{\log OR} * \mu * (1 - \mu)$, with $\mu = n_{case}/(n_{case} + n_{control})$.(31)

Sensitivity analyses

Collider-correction

The method of Barry et al, termed `collider-correction', enables weak instrument and pleiotropy robust 2SMR methods to be applied to one-sample data to obtain causal estimates.(32) It is based on a generalization of the algorithm described in Dudridge et al , to adjust for collider bias in genetic association studies of disease progression.(33) This method artificially induces and then corrects for collider bias, with an additional simulation extrapolation (SiMEX) correction(34) step to cope with weak instrument bias. Further methodological details are provided in the link publication (<u>https://journals.plos.org/plosgenetics/article?id=10.1371/journal.pgen.1009703</u>), but we provide a brief description below.

The association among SNP (G), exposure (X), and outcome (Y) for subject i is assumed to obey the following data generating process:

$$X_i \mid G_i , U_i = \sum_{j=1}^k \beta_{XGj} G_{ij} + \beta_{UX} U_i + \varepsilon_{Xi}$$
(1)

$$Y_i | X_i, G_i, U_i = \beta X_i + \sum_{j=1}^k \alpha_j G_{ij} + \beta_{UY} U_i + \varepsilon_{Yi}$$
(2)

where U is the unmeasured confounding predicting X and Y, ε is the independent residual error term.

In order to obtain the unbiased causal effect β using 2SLS which assuming there is no pleiotropy $(\alpha_j = 0)$, we would firstly regress the exposure (X) on all k genetic variant under model (1) to derive the predicted exposure $\hat{X}_i = \sum_{j=1}^k \beta_{XGj} G_{ij}$. Subsequently, we would regress the outcome (Y) on \hat{X}_i to obtain the causal estimate $\hat{\beta}$. However, in a one-sample setting, the unmeasured confounder U is common to both X and Y, therefore the respectively residual error ε_{Xi} and ε_{Yi} are correlated, which might bias the estimate toward the observational estimate as long as the instruments are weak (F-statistics <10).(35; 36)

Artificially, we introduce collider bias into the SNP-outcome associations by fitting model (3):

$$Y_i | X_i, G_i = \beta^* X_i + \sum_{j=1}^k \alpha_j^* G_{ij} + \varepsilon_i'$$
 (3)

where β^* and α_j^* are collider biased estimates distinct from β and α_j , when confounding exists between the exposure and outcome exists. The parameters α_i^* , α_j , β^* , and β are linked via:

$$\alpha_j^* = \alpha_j + (\beta - \beta^*) \beta_{XGj} \qquad (4)$$

To estimate β we therefore fit a linear model to obtain an estimate $(\widehat{\beta - \beta^*})$:

$$\widehat{\alpha_{J}^{*}} = \alpha_{0} + (\beta - \beta^{*}) \widehat{\beta_{XGJ}} + \varepsilon_{i} \qquad (5)$$

As such, the causal effect is then estimated as

$$\widehat{\beta} = \widehat{\beta^*} + (\widehat{\beta - \beta^*}) \quad (6)$$

To additionally adjust for weak instrument bias we fit linear model (5) using SiMEX(34) or another classical measurement error correction method. This method can be used because the collider correction algorithm removes the correlation in the uncertainties of $\widehat{\beta_{XGJ}}$ and the $\widehat{\alpha_J^*}$.

In this study, the summary statistics for collider-correction (i.e., β_{XG} , se β_{XG} , β_{YG} , se β_{YG} , β^* , se β^* , α^* , se α^*) were obtained from the linear regression adjusted for age, sex, chip, assessment centre, and 40 principal components. This collider correction can be implemented to different 2SMR methods regarding different assumptions of pleiotropy. The following methods were named 1SMRsensitivity1, 1SMRsensitivity2, and 1SMRsensitivity3 respectively in the manuscript, tables, and figures.

When implementing into IVW, we assume the mean pleiotropy is zero and the Instrument Strength Independent of Direct Effect (InSIDE) assumption. Thus, in regression (5) we can set $\alpha_0 = 0$ and fit using least squares. (ISMRsensitivity1) To account for potential pleiotropy with a non-zero mean we repeat the above procedure but allow the intercept to be estimated in (5), This is equal to performing MR-Egger regression.(37) (1SMRsensitivity2)

To account for 'majority valid' pleiotropy that is nevertheless potentially in violation of the InSIDE assumption, we fit model (5) with no intercept using least-absolute deviation (LAD) regression, This is close in spirit to the weighted median (WM) approach.(38) (1SMRsensitivity3)

Applying the combination of collider correction and 2SMR methods as a sensitivity analysis, it provides an alternative to account for both pleiotropy and weak instrument bias in a 1SMR setting, which is a less biased but more precise causal estimate comparing with the application of standard 2SMR methods.

Winner's curse correction

To address this, we identified subsets of genome-wide significance SNPs (p-value<5×10⁻⁸) of some sleep traits in other independent GWAS that did not include UKB. For insomnia symptoms: a subset of 108 SNPs were identified in Jansen et al GWAS,(20) when analyses were run in the 23andMe separately; for excessive daytime sleepiness: a subset of 19 SNPs were identified in Wang H et al GWAS,(22) when analyses were ran in 337,539 unrelated individuals of European Ancestries separately; for napping: a subset of 17 SNPs were identified in Dashti HS et al GWAS,(23) when analyses were ran in the 23andMe separately; for chronotype: a subset of 72 SNPs were identified in Jones et al GWAS,(24) when analyses were ran in the 23andMe separately. These SNPs could be accessed in the supplementary of the specific discovery GWAS studies.(20; 22-24)

We did not identify a study (other than UKB) that had undertaken genome-wide analyses of sleep duration. Replication of the 78 genome-wide significant SNPs predicting sleep duration in the UKB were conducted in the CHARGE (adult, n=47,180) and the EAGLE (childhood/adolescent, n=10,554) cohorts respectively, as well as, meta-analysis of these two cohorts with the UKB (n =446,118) were presented in the discovery GWAS.(21) Despite, the summary statistics were driven by the UKB considering to the larger sample size of UKB. Besides, no summary statistics of meta-analysis of these two independent cohorts were given in the discovery GWAS.(21) Although we have conducted a meta-analysis to obtain the summary statistics from the CHARGE and the EAGLE, no genome-wide significance SNP was identified. As such, no winner's curse robust sensitivity analysis was conducted.

Additional analyses

Assessing associations of HbA1c with insomnia

1SMR and 2SMR were conducted to assess the association of HbA1c with insomnia to rule out the possibility of reverse causality that HbA1c levels could influence sleep perhaps through mechanisms including neuropathic pain and nocturia. For 1SMR, 11 genome-wide significance (p-value $<5 \times 10^{-8}$) SNPs predicting HbA1c were identified in Soranzo N et al GWAS (n=46,368, aged 53 years-old (52% female), from 23 GWAS)(27) from MAGIC. We generated the unweighted allele score as the total number of HbA1c increasing alleles present for each participant in the UKB. 2SLS instrumental variable analyses were performed with adjustment for assessment centre and 40 genetic principal components to minimize confounding by population stratification, as well as baseline age, sex, and genotyping chip to account for known confounders and to reduce random variation.

2SMR analyses of HbA1c with insomnia symptoms were conducted using the summary associations between the genetic instruments and HbA1c identified in the in Soranzo N et al's GWAS(27) (exposure, sample 1) and estimates the associations between the genetic instruments and insomnia symptoms(20) (downloaded from https://ctg.cncr.nl/software/summary_statistics) (outcome, sample 2). Analyses were conducted using the "TwoSampleMR" package in R.(29) All the 11 (non-palindromic) SNPs identified in the exposure GWAS can be merged in the outcome summary statistics. IVW regression under a multiplicative random-effects model(30) was used as the primary 2SMR analysis, meanwhile, WM and MR-Egger were also applied as sensitivity analyses.

Multivariable Mendelian randomization assessing the direct effect of insomnia symptoms on HbA1c independent of BMI

97 genome-wide significance SNPs predicting BMI were extracted from Locke et al GWAS.(39) Among which, 96 SNPs were identified and were used to generate the unweighted allele scores as the total number of BMI increasing alleles present for each participant in the UKB. We conducted a multivariable Mendelian randomization(40) (MVMR) to assess the direct effect of insomnia symptoms on HbA1c independent of BMI in the UKB. The Sanderson-Windmeijer F statistics(40) of insomnia symptoms unweighted allele score and BMI unweighted allele score were 1,596 and 3,970 respectively. For comparison, unique variable Mendelian randomization (UVMR) for the effect of BMI on HbA1c was also conducted separately in the UKB. Both MVMR and UVMR were performed with adjustment for age at recruitment, sex, assessment centre, 40 genetic principal components, and genotyping chip.

Assessing associations of sleep traits with glucose

Glucose was measured in the same unit of mmol/l in UKB (non-fasting glucose, n = 293,838) and in MAGIC (fasting glucose, n = 46,186, mean (SD) age = 52 years (56% female) from 21 GWAS).(28) In the UKB, non-fasting glucose was right skewed, therefore, we natural logtransformed it and converted it into SD units (1 SD = 0.17 log mmol/l). In 2SMR, we also presented results in SD units of the summary data from MAGIC (1SD was equal to an fasting glucose value of 0.73 mmol/l). Thus, for all analyses (MVR, 1SMR, and 2SMR) we estimated the mean difference in glucose SD per 1 unit or category increase in the sleep traits (i.e., 24-hour sleep duration, daytime sleepiness, daytime napping, and chronotype) except for insomnia symptoms, short sleep (\leq 6 hours *vs* 7-8 hours), and long sleep (\geq 9 hours *vs* 7-8 hours). For these binary exposures, in MVR and 1SMR we estimated the average difference in glucose under the counterfactual assumption which provides an estimate of the difference between everyone (in the population of interest) experiencing the exposure (i.e. assuming exposure prevalence is 100%) compared to no-one experiencing the exposure (assuming exposure prevalence: 0%).(41) To enable the comparison of the 2SMR estimates to the MVR and 1SMR results, we converted the results of the SNP-binary sleep trait from the multiplicative log odds scale to a difference in risk scale by $\beta = \log OR * \mu * (1 - \mu)$, $se = se_{\log OR} * \mu * (1 - \mu)$, with $\mu =$

 $n_{case}/(n_{case} + n_{control}).(31)$

In UKB, glucose was measured without fasting, because participants were not advised to fast before attending. However, participants were asked to record the last time they ate or drank anything before attending the clinic and those answers were used as 'fasting time'. As such, we repeated MV and 1SMR main analyses with additional adjustment for fasting time (hours) and dilution factor. During routine quality control checks, the UKB laboratory team observed that some assay results were lower than expected for samples acquired during certain time periods. This affected biochemical results for ~ 8% of the samples and a dilution factor was adjusted for. While the assessment of sleep traits on glucose levels was secondary to our primary aim, it should be highlighted that both MVR and 1SMR were conducted on non-fasting glucose in UKB. Analyses were adjusted for fasting time, but even with this adjustment differences between the 1SMR and 2SMR may be because the latter was based on fasting glucose.

Testing Mendelian randomization assumptions

In 1SMR, the variation in sleep traits explained by the allele scores varied from 2.14% (Fstatistic 7359) for chronotype to 0.07% (F-statistic 181) for long sleep duration (**Supplementary** Table 1). For collider-correction, the mean F-statistics of individual SNPs (mean (Fi = BetaXGi^2 / seBetaXGi^2) (BetaXGi and seBetaXGi were obtained from UKB)) for each of the sleep traits calculated in UKB were ≥ 23 , except for insomnia symptoms for which it was 8 (Supplementary Table 7). In 2SMR, the variance explained by the combined SNPs was also highest for chronotype (2.09%, mean F-statistic 60) and lowest for long sleep duration (0.06%, mean F-statistic 41) (Supplementary Table 1). Details of any proxy SNPs used in the 2SMR are described in Supplementary Table 9.

After accounting for multiple testing (p<0.05/7 = 0.007, 7 risk factors), the allele score for insomnia symptoms was associated with six potential risk factors for variation in glycaemic traits that might result in directional pleiotropy (smoking, alcohol, Townsend residential deprivation index, BMI, education, physical activity except sleep apnoea). To differing degrees, the allele scores of short sleep duration, daytime sleepiness, daytime napping, and chronotype also associated with one or more of these risk factors, whereas allele scores of total sleep duration and long sleep duration were not substantively associated with these risk factors (**Supplementary Table 8**).

In 1SMR, the Sargan test indicated heterogeneity (p < 0.05) of the SNP estimates for all sleep traits with HbA1c and glucose, which could suggest horizontal pleiotropy. However, MR-Egger intercepts did not provide evidence of any meaningful bias due to directional pleiotropy (Supplementary Table 3 and Supplementary Table 5).

Quantifying the population-level impact of a hypothetical insomnia intervention on the prevalence of diabetes in the UK

Here we describe our methods for obtaining a population-level estimate of the effect of a hypothetical insomnia intervention on the UK prevalence of type 2 diabetes. We base the size of the treatment effect on the 1SMR causal estimate in UKB participants. This causal estimate indicates if we were able to successfully intervene in all of those who "usually" experience insomnia so that the frequency of their symptoms becomes "sometimes" or "rarely/never" then this intervention would be predicted to lead to a 0.52 SD, (0.42 to 0.63) reduction in their HbA1c levels, which is equivalent to 1.08 (1.07 to 1.10) mmol/mol (1SD = 0.15 log mmol/mol in the UKB). We defined diabetic status as the level of HbA1c \geq 48 mmol/mol. As such:

The proportion of diabetes in the UKB (before insomnia treatment, regardless of insomnia status):

$p_0 = n_{HbA1c \ge 48} / n_{total}$ (before insomnia treatment)

Among 28% participants in the UKB with "usually" insomnia frequency, we lower their HbA1c level by 1.08 mmol/mol. Then we re-calculated the proportion of people who have diabetes in the UKB:

$p_1 = n_{HbA1c \ge 48} / n_{total}$ (after insomnia treatment)

As such, the difference between p_0 and p_1 is the reduction in the proportion of people with diabetes as a consequence of insomnia treatment. We then used a parametric bootstrap (1,000

times) to obtain the corresponding 95% confidence interval, which is 0.109%, (0.107 to 0.110) reduction.

Lastly, we applied this proportional effect to the expected number of people in the UK between the ages of 40 and 70 years in 2018,(44) which was the age range at baseline in UKB participants when insomnia symptoms were assessed. Approximately 38% of the UK population (i.e., 25 million out of 66 million in total) are in this age range.(44) Therefore, ~27,300 (95%CI 26,800 to 27,500) people with frequent insomnia symptoms would be free from having diabetes (HbA1c \geq 48 mmol/mol) in the UK, if an effective intervention was delivered to the 25 million adults between 40 and 70 years of age.(44) This estimate is based on the 28% of the population "usually" experiencing insomnia symptoms in the UKB cohort, which is similar to the recorded national surveys of adult population in the UK that range from 5% to 38%.(45)These values could be uncertain. On one hand, the percentage of insomnia symptoms in the UKB cohort might be higher than that in the general population given UKB participants are older (mean age ~56). Thus, the estimate may be exaggerated in terms of what we would expect of a population including all ages. However, the UKB cohort is healthier than the age equivalent UK population,(46) which could underestimate risk. The quantification of the impact of a hypothetical insomnia intervention could also be an overestimate as current (largely behavioural) interventions would be challenging to implement in all people who usually experience insomnia symptoms and the intervention is unlikely to be effective in all participants.(47; 48)

References

1. Sudlow C, Gallacher J, Allen N, Beral V, Burton P, Danesh J, Downey P, Elliott P, Green J, Landray M, Liu B, Matthews P, Ong G, Pell J, Silman A, Young A, Sprosen T, Peakman T, Collins R. UK biobank: an open access resource for identifying the causes of a wide range of complex diseases of middle and old age. PLoS Med 2015;12:e1001779

2. Fry A, Littlejohns TJ, Sudlow C, Doherty N, Adamska L, Sprosen T, Collins R, Allen NE. Comparison of Sociodemographic and Health-Related Characteristics of UK Biobank Participants With Those of the General Population. Am J Epidemiol 2017;186:1026-1034

3. UK Biobank Biomarker Panel [article online], 2015. Available from <u>https://www.ukbiobank.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/11/BCM023 ukb biomarker panel website v1.0-Aug-2015.pdf</u>.

4. Bycroft C, Freeman C, Petkova D, Band G, Elliott LT, Sharp K, Motyer A, Vukcevic D, Delaneau O, O'Connell J, Cortes A, Welsh S, Young A, Effingham M, McVean G, Leslie S, Allen N, Donnelly P, Marchini J. The UK Biobank resource with deep phenotyping and genomic data. Nature 2018;562:203-209

5. Ruth E Mitchell GH, Tom Dudding, Laura Corbin, Sean Harrison, Lavinia Paternoster. UK Biobank Genetic Data: MRC-IEU Quality Control, version 2, 18/01/2019. MRC Integrative Epidemiology Unit (IEU), University of Bristol, UK, 2019

6. Ancoli-Israel S. Sleep and its disorders in aging populations. Sleep medicine 2009;10:S7-S11

7. Carrier J, Semba K, Deurveilher S, Drogos L, Cyr-Cronier J, Lord C, Sekerovick Z. Sex differences in age-related changes in the sleep-wake cycle. Front Neuroendocrinol 2017;47:66-85

8. Ding C, Zhang J, Lau ESH, Luk AOY, So WY, Ma RCW, Choi KC, Chan JCN, Wing YK, Kong APS. Gender differences in the associations between insomnia and glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes: a cross-sectional study. Sleep 2019;42

9. Patel NP, Grandner MA, Xie D, Branas CC, Gooneratne N. "Sleep disparity" in the population: poor sleep quality is strongly associated with poverty and ethnicity. BMC Public Health 2010;10:475

10. Stamatakis KA, Kaplan GA, Roberts RE. Short sleep duration across income, education, and race/ethnic groups: population prevalence and growing disparities during 34 years of follow-up. Ann Epidemiol 2007;17:948-955

11. Adams CD, Boutwell BB. Can increasing years of schooling reduce type 2 diabetes (T2D)?: Evidence from a Mendelian randomization of T2D and 10 of its risk factors. Sci Rep 2020;10:12908

12. Walker RJ, Gebregziabher M, Martin-Harris B, Egede LE. Independent effects of socioeconomic and psychological social determinants of health on self-care and outcomes in Type 2 diabetes. Gen Hosp Psychiatry 2014;36:662-668

13. Bellatorre A, Choi K, Lewin D, Haynie D, Simons-Morton B. Relationships Between Smoking and Sleep Problems in Black and White Adolescents. Sleep 2017;40

14. Yuan S, Larsson SC. A causal relationship between cigarette smoking and type 2 diabetes mellitus: A Mendelian randomization study. Sci Rep 2019;9:19342

15. Nishiyama T, Nakatochi M, Goto A, Iwasaki M, Hachiya T, Sutoh Y, Shimizu A, Wang C, Tanaka H, Watanabe M, Hosono A, Tamai Y, Yamada T, Yamaji T, Sawada N, Fukumoto K, Otsuka K, Tanno K, Tomita H, Kojima K, Nagasaki M, Hozawa A, Hishida A, Sasakabe T, Nishida Y, Hara M, Ito H, Oze I, Nakamura Y, Mikami H, Ibusuki R, Takezaki T, Koyama T, Kuriyama N, Endoh K, Kuriki K, Turin TC,

Naoyuki T, Katsuura-Kamano S, Uemura H, Okada R, Kawai S, Naito M, Momozawa Y, Kubo M, Sasaki M, Yamamoto M, Tsugane S, Wakai K, Suzuki S. Genome-wide association meta-analysis and Mendelian randomization analysis confirm the influence of ALDH2 on sleep duration the Japanese population. Sleep 2019;42

16. Peng M, Zhang J, Zeng T, Hu X, Min J, Tian S, Wang Y, Liu G, Wan L, Huang Q, Hu S, Chen L. Alcohol consumption and diabetes risk in a Chinese population: a Mendelian randomization analysis. Addiction 2019;114:436-449

17. Kredlow MA, Capozzoli MC, Hearon BA, Calkins AW, Otto MW. The effects of physical activity on sleep: a meta-analytic review. J Behav Med 2015;38:427-449

18. Boniol M, Dragomir M, Autier P, Boyle P. Physical activity and change in fasting glucose and HbA1c: a quantitative meta-analysis of randomized trials. Acta Diabetol 2017;54:983-991

19. Townsend P, Phillimore P, Beattie A. *Health and deprivation: inequality and the North*. Routledge, 1988

20. Jansen PR, Watanabe K, Stringer S, Skene N, Bryois J, Hammerschlag AR, de Leeuw CA, Benjamins JS, Munoz-Manchado AB, Nagel M, Savage JE, Tiemeier H, White T, Tung JY, Hinds DA, Vacic V, Wang X, Sullivan PF, van der Sluis S, Polderman TJC, Smit AB, Hjerling-Leffler J, Van Someren EJW, Posthuma D. Genome-wide analysis of insomnia in 1,331,010 individuals identifies new risk loci and functional pathways. Nat Genet 2019;51:394-403

21. Dashti HS, Jones SE, Wood AR, Lane JM, van Hees VT, Wang H, Rhodes JA, Song Y, Patel K, Anderson SG, Beaumont RN, Bechtold DA, Bowden J, Cade BE, Garaulet M, Kyle SD, Little MA, Loudon AS, Luik AI, Scheer F, Spiegelhalder K, Tyrrell J, Gottlieb DJ, Tiemeier H, Ray DW, Purcell SM, Frayling TM, Redline S, Lawlor DA, Rutter MK, Weedon MN, Saxena R. Genome-wide association study identifies genetic loci for self-reported habitual sleep duration supported by accelerometer-derived estimates. Nat Commun 2019;10:1100

22. Wang H, Lane JM, Jones SE, Dashti HS, Ollila HM, Wood AR, van Hees VT, Brumpton B, Winsvold BS, Kantojarvi K, Palviainen T, Cade BE, Sofer T, Song Y, Patel K, Anderson SG, Bechtold DA, Bowden J, Emsley R, Kyle SD, Little MA, Loudon AS, Scheer F, Purcell SM, Richmond RC, Spiegelhalder K, Tyrrell J, Zhu X, Hublin C, Kaprio JA, Kristiansson K, Sulkava S, Paunio T, Hveem K, Nielsen JB, Willer CJ, Zwart JA, Strand LB, Frayling TM, Ray D, Lawlor DA, Rutter MK, Weedon MN, Redline S, Saxena R. Genome-wide association analysis of self-reported daytime sleepiness identifies 42 loci that suggest biological subtypes. Nat Commun 2019;10:3503

23. Dashti HS, Daghlas I, Lane J, Huang Y, Udler M, Wang H, Ollila H, Jones SE, Kim J, Wood AR, Weedon MN, Aslibekyan S, Garaulet M, Saxena R. Genetic determinants of daytime napping and effects on cardiometabolic health. medRxiv 2020:2020.2006.2012.20129858

24. Jones SE, Lane JM, Wood AR, van Hees VT, Tyrrell J, Beaumont RN, Jeffries AR, Dashti HS, Hillsdon M, Ruth KS, Tuke MA, Yaghootkar H, Sharp SA, Jie Y, Thompson WD, Harrison JW, Dawes A, Byrne EM, Tiemeier H, Allebrandt KV, Bowden J, Ray DW, Freathy RM, Murray A, Mazzotti DR, Gehrman PR, Lawlor DA, Frayling TM, Rutter MK, Hinds DA, Saxena R, Weedon MN. Genome-wide association analyses of chronotype in 697,828 individuals provides insights into circadian rhythms. Nat Commun 2019;10:343

25. Ruth Mitchell GH, Tom Dudding, Laura Corbin, Sean Harrison, Lavinia Paternoster. UK Biobank Genetic Data: MRC-IEU Quality Control, version 2. 22 Jan 2019 ed., University of Bristol

26. Bycroft C, Freeman C, Petkova D, Band G, Elliott LT, Sharp K, Motyer A, Vukcevic D, Delaneau O, O'Connell J, Cortes A, Welsh S, Young A, Effingham M, McVean G, Leslie S, Allen N, Donnelly P, Marchini J. The UK Biobank resource with deep phenotyping and genomic data. Nature 2018;562:203-209

27. Soranzo N, Sanna S, Wheeler E, Gieger C, Radke D, Dupuis J, Bouatia-Naji N, Langenberg C, Prokopenko I, Stolerman E, Sandhu MS, Heeney MM, Devaney JM, Reilly MP, Ricketts SL, Stewart AF, Voight BF, Willenborg C, Wright B, Altshuler D, Arking D, Balkau B, Barnes D, Boerwinkle E, Bohm B, Bonnefond A, Bonnycastle LL, Boomsma DI, Bornstein SR, Bottcher Y, Bumpstead S, Burnett-Miller MS, Campbell H, Cao A, Chambers J, Clark R, Collins FS, Coresh J, de Geus EJ, Dei M, Deloukas P, Doring A, Egan JM, Elosua R, Ferrucci L, Forouhi N, Fox CS, Franklin C, Franzosi MG, Gallina S, Goel A, Graessler J, Grallert H, Greinacher A, Hadley D, Hall A, Hamsten A, Hayward C, Heath S, Herder C, Homuth G, Hottenga JJ, Hunter-Merrill R, Illig T, Jackson AU, Jula A, Kleber M, Knouff CW, Kong A, Kooner J, Kottgen A, Kovacs P, Krohn K, Kuhnel B, Kuusisto J, Laakso M, Lathrop M, Lecoeur C, Li M, Li M, Loos RJ, Luan J, Lyssenko V, Magi R, Magnusson PK, Malarstig A, Mangino M, Martinez-Larrad MT, Marz W, McArdle WL, McPherson R, Meisinger C, Meitinger T, Melander O, Mohlke KL, Mooser VE, Morken MA, Narisu N, Nathan DM, Nauck M, O'Donnell C, Oexle K, Olla N, Pankow JS, Payne F, Peden JF, Pedersen NL, Peltonen L, Perola M, Polasek O, Porcu E, Rader DJ, Rathmann W, Ripatti S, Rocheleau G, Roden M, Rudan I, Salomaa V, Saxena R, Schlessinger D, Schunkert H, Schwarz P, Seedorf U, Selvin E, Serrano-Rios M, Shrader P, Silveira A, Siscovick D, Song K, Spector TD, Stefansson K, Steinthorsdottir V, Strachan DP, Strawbridge R, Stumvoll M, Surakka I, Swift AJ, Tanaka T, Teumer A, Thorleifsson G, Thorsteinsdottir U, Tonjes A, Usala G, Vitart V, Volzke H, Wallaschofski H, Waterworth DM, Watkins H, Wichmann HE, Wild SH, Willemsen G, Williams GH, Wilson JF, Winkelmann J, Wright AF, Zabena C, Zhao JH, Epstein SE, Erdmann J, Hakonarson HH, Kathiresan S, Khaw KT, Roberts R, Samani NJ, Fleming MD, Sladek R, Abecasis G, Boehnke M, Froguel P, Groop L, McCarthy MI, Kao WH, Florez JC, Uda M, Wareham NJ, Barroso I, Meigs JB. Common variants at 10 genomic loci influence hemoglobin A(1)(C) levels via glycemic and nonglycemic pathways. Diabetes 2010;59:3229-3239

28. Dupuis J, Langenberg C, Prokopenko I, Saxena R, Soranzo N, Jackson AU, Wheeler E, Glazer NL, Bouatia-Naji N, Glovn AL, Lindgren CM, Mägi R, Morris AP, Randall J, Johnson T, Elliott P, Rybin D, Thorleifsson G, Steinthorsdottir V, Henneman P, Grallert H, Dehghan A, Hottenga JJ, Franklin CS, Navarro P, Song K, Goel A, Perry JRB, Egan JM, Lajunen T, Grarup N, Sparsø T, Doney A, Voight BF, Stringham HM, Li M, Kanoni S, Shrader P, Cavalcanti-Proença C, Kumari M, Qi L, Timpson NJ, Gieger C, Zabena C, Rocheleau G, Ingelsson E, An P, O'Connell J, Luan Ja, Elliott A, McCarroll SA, Payne F, Roccasecca RM, Pattou F, Sethupathy P, Ardlie K, Ariyurek Y, Balkau B, Barter P, Beilby JP, Ben-Shlomo Y, Benediktsson R, Bennett AJ, Bergmann S, Bochud M, Boerwinkle E, Bonnefond A, Bonnycastle LL, Borch-Johnsen K, Böttcher Y, Brunner E, Bumpstead SJ, Charpentier G, Chen Y-DI, Chines P, Clarke R, Coin LJM, Cooper MN, Cornelis M, Crawford G, Crisponi L, Day INM, de Geus EJC, Delplanque J, Dina C, Erdos MR, Fedson AC, Fischer-Rosinsky A, Forouhi NG, Fox CS, Frants R, Franzosi MG, Galan P, Goodarzi MO, Graessler J, Groves CJ, Grundy S, Gwilliam R, Gyllensten U, Hadjadj S, Hallmans G, Hammond N, Han X, Hartikainen A-L, Hassanali N, Hayward C, Heath SC, Hercberg S, Herder C, Hicks AA, Hillman DR, Hingorani AD, Hofman A, Hui J, Hung J, Isomaa B, Johnson PRV, Jørgensen T, Jula A, Kaakinen M, Kaprio J, Kesaniemi YA, Kivimaki M, Knight B, Koskinen S, Kovacs P, Kyvik KO, Lathrop GM, Lawlor DA, Le Bacquer O, Lecoeur C, Li Y, Lyssenko V, Mahley R, Mangino M, Manning AK, Martínez-Larrad MT, McAteer JB, McCulloch LJ, McPherson R, Meisinger C, Melzer D, Mevre D, Mitchell BD, Morken MA, Mukherjee S, Naitza S, Narisu N, Neville MJ, Oostra BA, Orrù M, Pakyz R, Palmer CNA, Paolisso G, Pattaro C, Pearson D, Peden JF, Pedersen NL, Perola M, Pfeiffer AFH, Pichler I, Polasek O, Posthuma D, Potter SC, Pouta A, Province MA, Psaty BM, Rathmann W, Rayner NW, Rice K, Ripatti S, Rivadeneira F, Roden M, Rolandsson O, Sandbaek A, Sandhu M, Sanna S, Sayer AA, Scheet P, Scott LJ, Seedorf U, Sharp SJ, Shields B, Sigurethsson G, Sijbrands EJG, Silveira A, Simpson L, Singleton A, Smith NL, Sovio U, Swift A, Syddall H, Syvänen A-C, Tanaka T, Thorand B, Tichet J, Tönjes A, Tuomi T, Uitterlinden AG, van Dijk KW, van Hoek M, Varma D, Visvikis-Siest S, Vitart V, Vogelzangs N, Waeber G, Wagner PJ, Walley A, Walters GB, Ward KL, Watkins H, Weedon MN, Wild SH, Willemsen G, Witteman JCM, Yarnell JWG, Zeggini E, Zelenika D, Zethelius B, Zhai G, Zhao JH, Zillikens MC, Consortium D, Consortium G,

Global BC, Borecki IB, Loos RJF, Meneton P, Magnusson PKE, Nathan DM, Williams GH, Hattersley AT, Silander K, Salomaa V, Smith GD, Bornstein SR, Schwarz P, Spranger J, Karpe F, Shuldiner AR, Cooper C, Dedoussis GV, Serrano-Ríos M, Morris AD, Lind L, Palmer LJ, Hu FB, Franks PW, Ebrahim S, Marmot M, Kao WHL, Pankow JS, Sampson MJ, Kuusisto J, Laakso M, Hansen T, Pedersen O, Pramstaller PP, Wichmann HE, Illig T, Rudan I, Wright AF, Stumvoll M, Campbell H, Wilson JF, Anders Hamsten on behalf of Procardis C, investigators M, Bergman RN, Buchanan TA, Collins FS, Mohlke KL, Tuomilehto J, Valle TT, Altshuler D, Rotter JI, Siscovick DS, Penninx BWJH, Boomsma DI, Deloukas P, Spector TD, Frayling TM, Ferrucci L, Kong A, Thorsteinsdottir U, Stefansson K, van Duijn CM, Aulchenko YS, Cao A, Scuteri A, Schlessinger D, Uda M, Ruokonen A, Jarvelin M-R, Waterworth DM, Vollenweider P, Peltonen L, Mooser V, Abecasis GR, Wareham NJ, Sladek R, Froguel P, Watanabe RM, Meigs JB, Groop L, Boehnke M, McCarthy MI, Florez JC, Barroso I. New genetic loci implicated in fasting glucose homeostasis and their impact on type 2 diabetes risk. Nature genetics 2010;42:105-116

29. Hemani G, Zheng J, Elsworth B, Wade KH, Haberland V, Baird D, Laurin C, Burgess S, Bowden J, Langdon R, Tan VY, Yarmolinsky J, Shihab HA, Timpson NJ, Evans DM, Relton C, Martin RM, Davey Smith G, Gaunt TR, Haycock PC. The MR-Base platform supports systematic causal inference across the human phenome. Elife 2018;7

30. Burgess SB, Jack. Integrating summarized data from multiple genetic variants in Mendelian randomization: bias and coverage properties of inverse-variance weighted methods. 2015;

31. Ruth Mitchell E, BL, Mitchell, R, Raistrick, CA, Paternoster, L, Hemani, G, Gaunt, TR. MRC IEU UK Biobank GWAS pipeline version 2.

32. Barry C, Liu J, Richmond R, Rutter MK, Lawlor DA, Dudbridge F, Bowden J. Exploiting collider bias to apply two-sample summary data Mendelian randomization methods to one-sample individual level data. PLOS Genetics 2021;17:e1009703

33. Dudbridge F, Allen RJ, Sheehan NA, Schmidt AF, Lee JC, Jenkins RG, Wain LV, Hingorani AD, Patel RS. Adjustment for index event bias in genome-wide association studies of subsequent events. Nature Communications 2019;10:1561

34. Bowden J, Del Greco MF, Minelli C, Davey Smith G, Sheehan NA, Thompson JR. Assessing the suitability of summary data for two-sample Mendelian randomization analyses using MR-Egger regression: the role of the I2 statistic. Int J Epidemiol 2016;45:1961-1974

35. Burgess S, Thompson SG. Avoiding bias from weak instruments in Mendelian randomization studies. Int J Epidemiol 2011;40:755-764

36. Burgess S, Thompson SG. Bias in causal estimates from Mendelian randomization studies with weak instruments. Stat Med 2011;30:1312-1323

37. Bowden J, Davey Smith G, Burgess S. Mendelian randomization with invalid instruments: effect estimation and bias detection through Egger regression. Int J Epidemiol 2015;44:512-525

38. Bowden J, Smith GD, Haycock PC, Burgess S. Consistent Estimation in Mendelian Randomization with Some Invalid Instruments Using a Weighted Median Estimator. Genet Epidemiol 2016;40:304-314

39. Locke AE, Kahali B, Berndt SI, Justice AE, Pers TH, Day FR, Powell C, Vedantam S, Buchkovich ML, Yang J, Croteau-Chonka DC, Esko T, Fall T, Ferreira T, Gustafsson S, Kutalik Z, Luan J, Mägi R, Randall JC, Winkler TW, Wood AR, Workalemahu T, Faul JD, Smith JA, Zhao JH, Zhao W, Chen J, Fehrmann R, Hedman Å K, Karjalainen J, Schmidt EM, Absher D, Amin N, Anderson D, Beekman M, Bolton JL, Bragg-Gresham JL, Buyske S, Demirkan A, Deng G, Ehret GB, Feenstra B, Feitosa MF, Fischer K, Goel A, Gong J, Jackson AU, Kanoni S, Kleber ME, Kristiansson K, Lim U, Lotay V, Mangino M, Leach IM, Medina-Gomez C, Medland SE, Nalls MA, Palmer CD, Pasko D, Pechlivanis S, Peters MJ, Prokopenko I, Shungin D, Stančáková A, Strawbridge RJ, Sung YJ, Tanaka T, Teumer A,

Trompet S, van der Laan SW, van Setten J, Van Vliet-Ostaptchouk JV, Wang Z, Yengo L, Zhang W, Isaacs A, Albrecht E, Ärnlöv J, Arscott GM, Attwood AP, Bandinelli S, Barrett A, Bas IN, Bellis C, Bennett AJ, Berne C, Blagieva R, Blüher M, Böhringer S, Bonnycastle LL, Böttcher Y, Boyd HA, Bruinenberg M, Caspersen IH, Chen YI, Clarke R, Daw EW, de Craen AJM, Delgado G, Dimitriou M, Doney ASF, Eklund N, Estrada K, Eury E, Folkersen L, Fraser RM, Garcia ME, Geller F, Giedraitis V, Gigante B, Go AS, Golay A, Goodall AH, Gordon SD, Gorski M, Grabe HJ, Grallert H, Grammer TB, Gräßler J, Grönberg H, Groves CJ, Gusto G, Haessler J, Hall P, Haller T, Hallmans G, Hartman CA, Hassinen M, Hayward C, Heard-Costa NL, Helmer Q, Hengstenberg C, Holmen O, Hottenga JJ, James AL, Jeff JM, Johansson Å, Jolley J, Juliusdottir T, Kinnunen L, Koenig W, Koskenvuo M, Kratzer W, Laitinen J, Lamina C, Leander K, Lee NR, Lichtner P, Lind L, Lindström J, Lo KS, Lobbens S, Lorbeer R, Lu Y, Mach F, Magnusson PKE, Mahajan A, McArdle WL, McLachlan S, Menni C, Merger S, Mihailov E, Milani L, Moayveri A, Monda KL, Morken MA, Mulas A, Müller G, Müller-Nurasyid M, Musk AW, Nagaraja R, Nöthen MM, Nolte IM, Pilz S, Rayner NW, Renstrom F, Rettig R, Ried JS, Ripke S, Robertson NR, Rose LM, Sanna S, Scharnagl H, Scholtens S, Schumacher FR, Scott WR, Seufferlein T. Shi J. Smith AV, Smolonska J. Stanton AV, Steinthorsdottir V, Stirrups K, Stringham HM, Sundström J, Swertz MA, Swift AJ, Syvänen AC, Tan ST, Tayo BO, Thorand B, Thorleifsson G, Tyrer JP, Uh HW, Vandenput L, Verhulst FC, Vermeulen SH, Verweij N, Vonk JM, Waite LL, Warren HR, Waterworth D, Weedon MN, Wilkens LR, Willenborg C, Wilsgaard T, Wojczynski MK, Wong A, Wright AF, Zhang Q, Brennan EP, Choi M, Dastani Z, Drong AW, Eriksson P, Franco-Cereceda A, Gådin JR, Gharavi AG, Goddard ME, Handsaker RE, Huang J, Karpe F, Kathiresan S, Keildson S, Kiryluk K, Kubo M, Lee JY, Liang L, Lifton RP, Ma B, McCarroll SA, McKnight AJ, Min JL, Moffatt MF, Montgomery GW, Murabito JM, Nicholson G, Nyholt DR, Okada Y, Perry JRB, Dorajoo R, Reinmaa E, Salem RM, Sandholm N, Scott RA, Stolk L, Takahashi A, Tanaka T, van 't Hooft FM, Vinkhuyzen AAE, Westra HJ, Zheng W, Zondervan KT, Heath AC, Arveiler D, Bakker SJL, Beilby J, Bergman RN, Blangero J, Bovet P, Campbell H, Caulfield MJ, Cesana G, Chakravarti A, Chasman DI, Chines PS, Collins FS, Crawford DC, Cupples LA, Cusi D, Danesh J, de Faire U, den Ruijter HM, Dominiczak AF, Erbel R, Erdmann J, Eriksson JG, Farrall M, Felix SB, Ferrannini E, Ferrières J, Ford I, Forouhi NG, Forrester T, Franco OH, Gansevoort RT, Gejman PV, Gieger C, Gottesman O, Gudnason V, Gyllensten U, Hall AS, Harris TB, Hattersley AT, Hicks AA, Hindorff LA, Hingorani AD, Hofman A, Homuth G, Hovingh GK, Humphries SE, Hunt SC, Hyppönen E, Illig T, Jacobs KB, Jarvelin MR, Jöckel KH, Johansen B, Jousilahti P, Jukema JW, Jula AM, Kaprio J, Kastelein JJP, Keinanen-Kiukaanniemi SM, Kiemeney LA, Knekt P, Kooner JS, Kooperberg C, Kovacs P, Kraja AT, Kumari M, Kuusisto J, Lakka TA, Langenberg C, Marchand LL, Lehtimäki T, Lyssenko V, Männistö S, Marette A, Matise TC, McKenzie CA, McKnight B, Moll FL, Morris AD, Morris AP, Murray JC, Nelis M, Ohlsson C, Oldehinkel AJ, Ong KK, Madden PAF, Pasterkamp G, Peden JF, Peters A, Postma DS, Pramstaller PP, Price JF, Qi L, Raitakari OT, Rankinen T, Rao DC, Rice TK, Ridker PM, Rioux JD, Ritchie MD, Rudan I, Salomaa V, Samani NJ, Saramies J, Sarzynski MA, Schunkert H, Schwarz PEH, Sever P, Shuldiner AR, Sinisalo J, Stolk RP, Strauch K, Tönjes A, Trégouët DA, Tremblay A, Tremoli E, Virtamo J, Vohl MC, Völker U, Waeber G, Willemsen G, Witteman JC, Zillikens MC, Adair LS, Amouyel P, Asselbergs FW, Assimes TL, Bochud M, Boehm BO, Boerwinkle E, Bornstein SR, Bottinger EP, Bouchard C, Cauchi S, Chambers JC, Chanock SJ, Cooper RS, de Bakker PIW, Dedoussis G, Ferrucci L, Franks PW, Froguel P, Groop LC, Haiman CA, Hamsten A, Hui J, Hunter DJ, Hveem K, Kaplan RC, Kivimaki M, Kuh D, Laakso M, Liu Y, Martin NG, März W, Melbye M, Metspalu A, Moebus S, Munroe PB, Njølstad I, Oostra BA, Palmer CNA, Pedersen NL, Perola M, Pérusse L, Peters U, Power C, Quertermous T, Rauramaa R, Rivadeneira F, Saaristo TE, Saleheen D, Sattar N, Schadt EE, Schlessinger D, Slagboom PE, Snieder H, Spector TD, Thorsteinsdottir U, Stumvoll M, Tuomilehto J, Uitterlinden AG, Uusitupa M, van der Harst P, Walker M, Wallaschofski H, Wareham NJ, Watkins H, Weir DR, Wichmann HE, Wilson JF, Zanen P, Borecki IB, Deloukas P, Fox CS, Heid IM, O'Connell JR, Strachan DP, Stefansson K, van Duijn CM, Abecasis GR, Franke L, Frayling TM, McCarthy MI, Visscher PM, Scherag A, Willer CJ, Boehnke M, Mohlke KL, Lindgren CM, Beckmann JS, Barroso I, North KE, Ingelsson E, Hirschhorn JN,

Loos RJF, Speliotes EK. Genetic studies of body mass index yield new insights for obesity biology. Nature 2015;518:197-206

40. Sanderson E, Davey Smith G, Windmeijer F, Bowden J. An examination of multivariable Mendelian randomization in the single-sample and two-sample summary data settings. International Journal of Epidemiology 2018;48:713-727

41. Burgess S, Labrecque JA. Mendelian randomization with a binary exposure variable: interpretation and presentation of causal estimates. European Journal of Epidemiology 2018;33:947-952

42. Allen NE, Arnold M, Parish S, Hill M, Sheard S, Callen H, Fry D, Moffat S, Gordon M, Welsh S, Elliott P, Collins R. Approaches to minimising the epidemiological impact of sources of systematic and random variation that may affect biochemistry assay data in UK Biobank. Wellcome Open Res 2020;5:222

43. Biomarker assay quality procedures: approaches used to minimise systematic and random errors (and the wider epidemiological implications) [article online], 2019. Available from https://biobank.ctsu.ox.ac.uk/crystal/crystal/docs/biomarker_issues.pdf.

44. Statistics OfN (Ed.). *Overview of the UK population: August 2019*. Office for National Statistics: Office for National Statistics, 2019

45. Calem M, Bisla J, Begum A, Dewey M, Bebbington PE, Brugha T, Cooper C, Jenkins R, Lindesay J, McManus S, Meltzer H, Spiers N, Weich S, Stewart R. Increased prevalence of insomnia and changes in hypnotics use in England over 15 years: analysis of the 1993, 2000, and 2007 National Psychiatric Morbidity Surveys. Sleep 2012;35:377-384

46. Keyes KM, Westreich D. UK Biobank, big data, and the consequences of non-representativeness. The Lancet 2019;393:1297

47. Espie CA, Emsley R, Kyle SD, Gordon C, Drake CL, Siriwardena AN, Cape J, Ong JC, Sheaves B, Foster R, Freeman D, Costa-Font J, Marsden A, Luik AI. Effect of Digital Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for Insomnia on Health, Psychological Well-being, and Sleep-Related Quality of Life: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Psychiatry 2019;76:21-30

48. Alshehri MM, Alothman SA, Alenazi AM, Rucker JL, Phadnis MA, Miles JM, Siengsukon CF, Kluding PM. The effects of cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia in people with type 2 diabetes mellitus, pilot RCT part II: diabetes health outcomes. BMC Endocr Disord 2020;20:136-136